### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### DONNELL W. PRICE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Judge

#### OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Appellant

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE Post Office Box 31017 Seattle, Washington 98103 (206) 782-3353

###

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	1.	Procedural Facts	
	2.	Facts relating to issues on appeal	
D.	ARGU	<u>JMENT</u> 8	
	1.	THE RESENTENCING COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE BASED ON AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR NOT PROPERLY FOUND BY A JURY, IN VIOLATION OF PRICE'S STATE AND FEDERAL RIGHTS UNDER BLAKELY AND ITS PROGENY	
	2.	PRICE WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS STATUTORY RIGHT TO ALLOCUTION AND THE COURT'S LATER RECONSIDERATION OF THE SENTENCE ALREADY DECIDED WAS NOT SUFFICIENT TO REMEDY THE ERROR	
Ε.	CONC	<u>CLUSION</u>	

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

<u>In re Echevarria</u> , 141 Wn.2d 323, 6 P.3d 573 (2000) 16, 1
State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997) 13, 14
State v. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d 698,116 P.3d 391 (2005)
State v. Hatchie, 161 Wn.2d 390, 166 P.3d 698 (2007)
<u>State v. Hughes</u> , 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), <u>overruled in part and on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco</u> , 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)
State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 216 P.3d 393 (2009)
State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709,132 P.3d 1076 (2006)
State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428,180 P.3d 1276 (2008)
State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 225 P.3d 913 (2010)
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
<u>State v. Aguilar-Rivera</u> , 83 Wn. App. 199, 920 P.2d 623 (1996) 18, 19
<u>State v. Aguilar-Rivera</u> , 83 Wn. App. 199, 920 P.2d 623 (1996) 18, 19 <u>State v. Baer</u> , 93 Wn. App. 539, 969 P.2d 506 (1999) 20
State v. Baer, 93 Wn. App. 539, 969 P.2d 506 (1999)
<u>State v. Baer</u> , 93 Wn. App. 539, 969 P.2d 506 (1999)
State v. Baer, 93 Wn. App. 539, 969 P.2d 506 (1999).       20         State v. Crider, 78 Wn. App. 849, 899 P.2d 24 (1995).       18         State v. Gonzales, 90 Wn. App. 852, 954 P.2d 360, review denied, 136 Wn.2D 1024 (1998).       19, 20

### FEDERAL AUTHORITY

<u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u> , 530 U.S. 466,120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)
Blakely v.Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
14 <sup>th</sup> Amend
Article IV, § 16
Article I, § 21
Article I, § 22
RCW 10.99.020
RCW 9.41.010
RCW 9.94A.500(1)
RCW 9.94A.510
RCW 9.94A.530
RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)
RCW 9.94A.537
RCW 9.94A.537(6)
RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a)
Sixth Amendment

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The resentencing court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence based upon an aggravating factor which was not properly found by the jury, in violation of Price's state and federal constitutional rights to due process and to jury trial under the Sixth Amendment and Article I, §§ 21 and 22, as set forth in <u>Blakely v.Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004), and its progeny.
- 2. The resentencing court violated Price's rights to allocution and the appearance of fairness doctrine in imposing the sentence.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In <u>Blakely</u>, the Court held that due process and the right to jury trial require that any factor which "aggravates" an offense and increases the punishment imposed must be presented to and found by a jury, not a judge, to a standard of proof of beyond a reasonable doubt.

In imposing the exceptional sentence on resentencing, the lower court here relied on the aggravating factor that the

crime involved domestic violence and the acts of the defendant manifested intimidation. The jury never made any finding, however, that the crime involved domestic violence. Did the resentencing court err and were Price's rights under <u>Blakely</u> violated by the imposition of the exceptional sentence based on facts not found by the jury?

2. The resentencing court imposed an exceptional sentence before asking appellant if he wished to speak. When counsel noted the error, the court then apologized and heard from Price, after which the court stated it had heard nothing to make it "reconsider" the exceptional sentence.

Did the resentencing court violate Mr. Price's right to allocution and was the court's willingness to "reconsider" its decision insufficient to render the error harmless?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Donnell W. Price was charged by information in Pierce

County Superior Court with first-degree murder and second-degree unlawful possession of a firearm, with further allegations that the murder was committed while armed with a firearm and that the crime was aggravated by being a crime of "domestic violence" and the conduct of the defendant was either deliberate cruelty or manifested intimidation of the victim. CP 1-2; RCW 9.41.010; RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(i); RCW 9.94A.510; RCW 9.94A.530; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h); RCW 9.94A.530(1)(a); RCW 10.99.020.

Price was convicted after a jury trial and, on October 19, 2007, ordered to serve an exceptional sentence of 434 months for the murder based on adding 60 months for "manifest intimidation," also having the standard ranges run consecutive, for a total term of 494 months. CP 11-22. Findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered in support of that exceptional sentence, on December 7, 2007. CP 32-34.

Mr. Price appealed and, on October 12, 2009, this Court affirmed in an unpublished decision. CP 35-47. On October 10, 2012, this Court granted a personal restraint petition in part, remanding for resentencing. CP 81-88.

Proceedings on remand for resentencing were held before the Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper on January 31, February 27 and March 7, 2014, after which the judge imposed an exceptional sentence. RP 78-80; CP 92-103. Mr. Price appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 104-116.

#### 2. Facts relating to issues on appeal

In the original sentencing, the trial court found that Price's 1991

and 1993 felony convictions did not "wash" and thus were to be counted in the offender score. CP 83. That determination, however, was made based upon the representations of the prosecutor that it had the relevant documents to prove the felonies did not "wash," without the prosecution actually presenting them. CP 83. This Court, in granting the personal restraint petition in part, remanded for resentencing, giving the prosecution the chance to "provide all relevant documentation to prove Price's criminal history and resulting offender score" under RCW 9.94A.530(2). CP 85. The Court also ordered correction of the "seriousness levels pertinent to each current offense, which should be XV and III instead of XIV and IV." CP 85.

At the first hearing on remand for resentencing, on January 31, 2014, the parties noted that the judge who had tried the case was retired and the new judge who had taken his position had worked as a prosecutor on Mr. Price's trial in 2006, so that a new judge was now involved. RP 3. That judge, Judge Culpepper, granted private counsel's motion to withdraw, based on that counsel's statement he did not want to be appointed and had done a lot of work without getting a lot of money for representing Price at trial, years before. RP 5-6.

On February 27, 2014, the parties appeared again, now with new counsel appointed for Mr. Price. RP 12-13. The prosecutor told the court that the purpose of the hearing was to allow him to provide the documents needed to support the offender score by proving that the prior felony convictions did not "wash." RP 15-16. Ironically, the prosecutor still did not have all the documents he needed to make that argument and said he

would not be able to get a missing judgment and sentence that day. RP 18-20. He admitted that the document would prove "[d]ispositive" on the issue of whether there was a "wash." RP 21.

The prosecutor then told the court that there were people present in the courtroom who had "come here, obviously, anticipating that this was going to be a sentencing hearing," but that resentencing could not occur without those documents. RP 20. He suggested that the court have those people address the court to "make whatever requests they want to make" about the sentence they felt was appropriate, after which the prosecutor could present the evidence he did have with him that day. RP 20-21. The parties would have to return, however, so that the prosecutor could present the missing documentation and they could then argue the issues at that time. RP 20-21.

The court gave the prosecutor additional time to get his evidence together, setting over the resentencing. RP 22. At the next hearing, on March 7, 2014, the prosecutor presented several exhibits establishing the prior felony convictions and several documents regarding modification of sentences which the prosecution argued supported their position that the prior felonies did not "wash." RP 39-40, 42. The parties disputed whether several of the intervening misdemeanors were valid, because they were based upon violations of terms of community supervision which had occurred years after Price's 12 months of community supervision, ordered in 1993, should have ended. RP 39-61. There was lengthy discussion on that issue but ultimately the trial court ruled that the offenses did not "wash." RP 61.

After making that ruling regarding the offender score, the court heard from relatives of the victim regarding the sentence, and then the prosecutor, who was planning to play the 9-1-1 tapes from trial but could not because he was having technical issues. RP 61-70. The prosecutor detailed facts he said were proven at trial at length, until counsel finally objected that she had not been trial counsel and thus could not rebut any of the prosecutor's claims. RP 66-68. The court agreed that counsel was making a"certain point" but said it assumed the prosecutor would recite "the facts and not his interpretation of them." RP 69. The prosecutor concurred, handed up some gruesome photos of the victim and argued about the nature of the crime. RP 68-69. Ultimately, the prosecutor asked the court to sentence Mr. Price to an exceptional sentence like the one previously imposed. RP 70-71.

At that point, the court asked if other potential aggravating factors were submitted to the jury, and the prosecutor conceded that there was a special verdict on whether the crime manifested "deliberate cruelty." RP 72. That special verdict was answered, "[n]o." RP 32, 73; CP 9-10.

Counsel also objected to the court imposing an exceptional sentence based on the "domestic violence" aggravator purportedly found by the jury. RP 73. She noted that the aggravating factor required proof that the crime involved "domestic violence" and that the conduct manifested intimidation of the victim, but the jury had made no finding regarding "domestic violence," as evidenced by the special verdict forms they had filled out. RP 73-74. Counsel argued that the court could not impose an exceptional sentence based on that aggravating factor as a result

without violating Mr. Price's rights under <u>Blakely</u>. RP 74. When the prosecutor declared that the issue was outside the "scope" of the resentencing hearing, counsel noted that the remand was for resentencing, which meant that there had to be a lawful sentence. RP 74-75.

#### The court then ruled:

Well, with respect to the issue of the exceptional sentence, the jury did find by special verdict that there was an aggravating circumstance, so I think Judge Fleming did have the ability, if he wished, to impose an exceptional sentence.

RP 76. After that, Judge Culpepper said it was very difficult to know "the perfect sentence in any case," especially when he had not heard the trial.

RP 77. He noted that Judge Fleming "heard the testimony and probably felt the emotion," and said that it was "hard to think of something more malicious" than the crime Price had committed by shooting and killing the victim when police were there to arrest him. RP 77. The judge then went on:

But, again, I wasn't there. I can't say I don't know what I would have done, but I certainly don't see any reason to vary from Judge Fleming, who heard the trial and heard all the details, did, so I'm going to sentence Mr. Price to 374 months in prison, the high end, plus the additional 60 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, and I'm also going to sentence him to an additional 60 months exceptional sentence upward. I'm simply adopting what Judge Fleming, who heard the trial and knows it a lot better than I did and was there, did.

RP 77-78. The court mentioned the terms of community custody, the imposition of legal financial obligations and other penalties. RP 78.

The judge then said, "[t]here's nothing I've heard or seen that indicates there was anything wrong with Judge Fleming's sentence, so I am, in effect, adopting it." RP 78. At that point, counsel said, "[a]nd I

understand that, Your Honor. I know Mr. Price wanted to address the Court and provide some information, but you've made your ruling without his ability to allocute." RP 78. The court apologized, said, "[y]ou're right; I should have done that," then said:

Mr. Price, anything you would like to say? The sentence isn't final yet. Is there anything you would like to say, Mr. Price? RP 78-79.

Price then talked about his case and his concerns about violations of the right to public trial. RP 80. He said he was a minister who had been ordained, a former senior ward in the Mason Lodge and other things, asking also for some legal materials at public expense. RP 80. He said he had tried to show his remorse "for the accident that happened," noting that the tragedy hurt his family, too, and that his 27<sup>th</sup> wedding anniversary was that day. RP 79-81.

Judge Culpepper said:

I apologize for not hearing from you earlier, Mr. Price. I should have, of course, granted that and listened. I did listen. I really didn't hear anything that makes me change my mind. I've reconsidered. I'm going to impose what I said earlier.

RP 81 (emphasis added). The judge said that the declaration that it was an accident was "a lie by the evidence," because the positioning of the gun according to the prosecutor had indicated the crime "wasn't an accident" but rather the defendant "executing" the victim "with the police breaking down the door." RP 81. Mr. Price then noted those were the facts the prosecution had brought up but there was also evidence of a struggle and the shooting happened during that struggle. RP 82. Judge Culpepper responded that he did not think someone would accidentally shoot

someone in the face during a struggle, stating his opinion that the shooting was deliberate, apparently based on what the prosecutor had said and presented. RP 82.

Judge Culpepper then said:

So, again, 374 months on Count I, level 15, Murder in the First Degree, 60 months for the deadly weapon finding the jury made, so 434, and I find that Judge Fleming made a good decision in the additional 60 weeks for the exceptional sentence.

RP 82. The prosecutor corrected, "[m]onths," and the court agreed. RP 83.

After the judge reimposed the same sentence and the parties talked about the appellate process, the judge told Price he had a right to appeal, talked about the timing of the appeal and discussed whether he was indigent. RP 83-84. Once they were through with most of the discussion, the prosecutor said, "I think the record should reflect the Court's judgment was not final at the point in time when the Court allowed Mr. Price to allocute." RP 85. The judge then declared, "[i]t's still not final because I haven't signed it yet." RP 85. The prosecutor agreed, and the judge said, "[a]fter hearing him, I reconsidered it and reimposed it, and I apologize for not hearing from him before I gave my initial inclination." RP 84-85.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. THE RESENTENCING COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE BASED ON AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR NOT PROPERLY FOUND BY A JURY, IN VIOLATION OF PRICE'S STATE AND FEDERAL RIGHTS UNDER <u>BLAKELY</u> AND ITS PROGENY

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to due process and trial by jury, which "requires that a sentence be authorized by the jury's verdict." State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 896, 225 P.3d 913 (2010); Sixth Amend.; 14th Amend.; Art. I, § 21; Art. I, §22. It is by now established that, other than the fact of a prior conviction, "any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." See Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000). Further, it is also now settled that the statutory maximum in question is "the maximum a judge may impose solely on the basis of the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant." Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303 (emphasis in original).

Our state constitution provides even greater protection for jury trials than does its federal counterpart. See Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d at 896. Under both state and federal constitutions, however, a sentencing court violates a defendants rights to trial by jury if imposes greater punishment than would have otherwise been authorized based on the facts actually found by a jury. See State v. Recuenco, 163 Wn.2d 428, 440, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008) (Recuenco III). Thus, under both constitutions, aggravating factors which are used to support an exceptional sentence above the standard range must be proven to and found by a jury, beyond a reasonable doubt, by special verdict. See, State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005), overruled in part and on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006); see also, State v. Ortega, 131 Wn. App. 591, 594-95, 128 P.3d 146 (2006), review denied, 160 Wn.2d 1002 (2007).

Our state's statutes also mandate such a requirement. Under RCW

9.94A.537, in order for a sentence to be imposed above the standard range in compliance with the requirements of <u>Blakely</u>, the prosecution must give notice of the aggravating circumstances upon which it will rely and, further:

The facts supporting aggravating circumstances shall be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury's verdict on the aggravating factor must be unanimous, and by special interrogatory.

RCW 9.94A.537(3) (emphasis added).

In this case, the lower court erred in imposing an exceptional sentence on remand based on an aggravating factor which was not properly found by the jury by special interrogatory as required under <u>Blakely</u> and RCW 9.94A.537(3). In rejecting this argument below, the trial court relied on its belief that the "jury did find by special verdict that there was an aggravating circumstance" so that an exceptional sentence could be imposed. <u>See</u> RP 76.

But in fact, the jury did not so find. Price was accused of having committed the crime with the aggravating factor of the crime having involved domestic violence as defined in RCW 10.99.020, with one or more of the following present:

(i) The offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of the victim manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time; (ii) The offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim's or the offender's minor children under the age of eighteen years; or (iii) The offender's conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim[.]

CP 1-2. The special verdicts submitted to the jury on the aggravating factors were based solely upon the third alternative. CP 9, 10. That

aggravating factor is contained in RCW 9.94A.535(3), as one of the aggravating factors that must be considered and found by a jury, that "[t]he current offense involved domestic violence, as defined in RCW 10.99.020" and that "[t]he offender's conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim[.]" RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h).

A crime involves "domestic violence" under RCW 10.99.020(5) if it is "committed by one family or household member against another." RCW 10.99.020(5). "Family or household member" is further defined under RCW 10.99.020 as:

spouses, former spouses, persons who have a child in common regardless of whether they have been married or have lived together at any time, adult persons related by blood or marriage, adult persons who are presently residing together or who have resided together in the past, persons sixteen years of age or older who are presently residing together or who have resided together in the past and who have or have had a dating relationship, persons sixteen years of age or older with whom a person sixteen years of age or older has or has had a dating relationship, and persons who have a biological or legal parent-child relationship, including stepparents and stepchildren and grandparents and grandchildren.

Thus, in order to meet its burden of proving the aggravating factor in this case, the prosecution had to prove that the crime was committed by one family or household member against another, as defined above, and, as submitted to the jury in theory here, that "[t]he offender's conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim[.]" RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h). Under <u>Blakely</u> and our sentencing statutes, the jury had to find those facts, beyond a reasonable doubt, by special verdict, before an exceptional sentence could be imposed based on that aggravating factor. But such findings were not made.

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