COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DONNELL W. PRICE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Ronald E. Culpepper, Judge

No. 06-1-04159-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Considering the merits of defendant's *Blakely* claim on appeal is again improper since it was never properly before the resentencing court. This Court remanded the case only "for resentencing so ... the State may ... prove [defendant's] offender score" and "for correction of the seriousness levels pertinent to each current offense." Appx. B, p.1. The mandate did not empower the trial court to decide untimely attacks on validity of defendant's convictions—base offense, enhancement or aggravator, which is what the *Blakely* claim is despite defendant's effort to frame it as a sentencing issue. *See State v. Mandanas*, 163 Wn. App. 712, 716-17, 262 P.3d 522 (2011). Stated otherwise, defendant cannot properly use this appeal from resentencing as a second appeal of the convictions underlying his sentence. *See Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d at 41 Fn.12, 43 Fn. 16; *Mandanas*, 163 Wn. App. at 716-17. Review of the *Blakely*

claim is further barred by RCW 10.73.090's collateral attack time limit, the invited error doctrine, and RAP 2.5.

a. Defendant cannot circumvent RCW 10.73.090's time limit by framing a time-barred attack on the special verdict form as a direct appeal from resentencing.

"[F]inality and reviewability are intrinsically bound." *Kilgore*, 167 Wn.2d at 36. A trial is only permitted to consider postjudgment motions authorized by statute or court rule, and a postjudgment challenge to the validity of a special verdict more than one year after the judgment became final is precluded by the one year time limit carefully crafted through the Legislature's enactment of RCW 10.73.090 and the Supreme Court's adoption of CrR 7.8(c)(2); RAP 12.2, RAP 16(d) as well as its holdings in *In re Coates*, 173 Wn.2d at 133-35; *In re Toledo-Sotelo*, 176 Wn.2d at 768; *In re Adams*, 178 Wn.2d at 423, 309 P.3d 451 (2013), and *In re Snively*, 180 Wn.2d at 32; *see also* RAP 1.1(c), RAP 2.5(b)(3).

Defendant's judgment became final October 8, 2010. CP 66-78. Remand for a hearing on defendant's offender score and misstated seriousness levels three years after RCW 10.73.090's one year time limit expired did not reopen the convictions underlying the sentence to untimely claims of special verdict error since a defendant "may not rely on the existence of ... facial sentencing error[s] to assert ... time-barred

claims." See Snively, 180 Wn.2d at 32 (citing Adams, 178 Wn.2d at 424-26; In re Clark, 168 Wn.2d 581, 587, 230 P.3d 156 (2010); Coates, 173 Wn.2d at 144). The authority defendant relies on to urge review does not govern time-barred PRPs, which is what his Blakely claim is. See In re Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 601-02, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014); State v. Gudgel, 170 Wn.2d 656, 657, 224 P.3d 938 (2010); RAP 1.1(c), RAP 2.5(b)(3), RAP 16.4(d).

b. The *Blakely* claim is also precluded by the invited error doctrine since defendant agreed to the wording of the challenged special verdict form at trial.

The invited error doctrine prohibits a defendant from complaining on appeal about an error he helped to create at trial. *State v. Wakefield*, 130 Wn.2d 464, 475, 925 P.2d 183 (1996). Review of alleged verdict form error is therefore forfeited when the defendant agreed to the wording at trial, even where constitutional rights are involved. *See State v. Wirings*, 126 Wn. App. 75, 89 107 P.3d 141 (2005).

Defendant wrongly attempts to win reversal of his 60 month exceptional sentence through an untimely challenge to the special verdict form he acquiesced to at trial. Appx. C (RP 1158-85).³ Having approved it then, he cannot properly assign error to it now. For the ambiguity now

³ Defendant proposed several instructions at trial; none of which suggested an alternative to the challenged special verdict form with the additional language defendant now deems indispensable. CP 155-162 (anticipated based on State's supplemental designation).

attributed to it could have been readily corrected with far less expense to the public had defendant voiced disagreement with the draftsmanship at trial. The invited error doctrine justly bars his request for review.

c. <u>Defendant's failure to challenge the special verdict form at trial also precludes review under RAP 2.5 as the alleged drafting error was not manifest in the context of the jury's accurate instructions on the applicable law.</u>

An appellant hoping to raise an unpreserved claim bears the initial burden of showing the alleged irregularity is manifest error of constitutional dimension. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 106, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). Error is only "manifest" if it has a practical and identifiable consequence at trial. *Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d at 676.

Defendant failed to preserve his *Blakely* claim by waiting to raise it until resentencing. *See* RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wn. App. 172, 189, 267 P.3d 454 (2011). Assuming constitutional dimension *arguendo*, the unpreserved allegation of error would have been unreviewable in defendant's first appeal, much less his second, since it was not manifest error to refrain from repeating the comprehensive instructions the jury received on the aggravating factor's elements in the associated special verdict form. This is because a special verdict form need not recite a sentencing aggravator's elements when an adequate accompanying

instruction is given. See State v. Davis, 116 Wn. App. 81, 95, 64 P.3d 661 (2003)(citing State v. Emmanuel, 42 Wn.2d 799, 819, 259 P.2d 845 (1953); Seattle Western Indus., Inc., v. Mowat Co., 110 Wn.2d 1, 10, 750 P.2d 245 (1988); Tiderman v. Fleetwood, 102 Wn.2d 334, 340, 684 P.2d 1302 (1984); Raum v. City of Bellevue, 171 Wn. App. 124, 148, 286 P.3d 695 (2012) (quoting Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. App. 138, 144, 955 P.2d 822 (1998). Accompanying instructions are adequate when they accurately state the law, do not mislead the jury, and permit the parties to argue their case. State v. Teal, 152 Wn.2d 333, 339, 96 P.3d 974 (2004). Even "to convict" instructions need not specify every element of a charged offense unless they specifically tell the jury it can convict if the recited elements are found. Davis, 116 Wn. App. at 95.

Instruction No. 23 accurately told the jury what was required to answer the challenged special verdict form in the affirmative:

"You will also be furnished with additional special verdict forms relating to aggravating factors ... alleged by the State on Count I ... fill in the blank with the answer 'yes' or 'no' according to the decision you reach. In order to answer the special verdict form 'yes' you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt ... 'yes' is the correct answer... The State ... alleged ... the following aggravating factors exist in this case ... (2) That the current offense involved domestic violence and the defendant's conduct manifested intimidation of the victim...." CP 148; Appx. D (emphasis added).

The elements were reiterated in Instruction No. 25:

"For the purposes of a special verdict, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the presence of an aggravating factor. An aggravating factor alleged in this case is that the offense involved domestic violence, and the defendant's conduct during the commission manifested intimidation of the victim...." CP 150; Appx.D (emphasis added).

The purpose of the special verdict form was to record the jury's verdict based on those instructions, not to redundantly instruct the jury on the law. Each of the aggravator's two elements were accurately set forth in Instructions No. 23 and No. 25, with clear directions on how the special verdict form was to be completed. RCW 9.94A.535(h)(iii) (2005); RCW 10.99.020. It was not manifest error for the trial court to rely on the strong presumption the jury would follow those instructions when filling out the challenged special verdict form that incorporated them through reference to the "intimidation" element distinguishing that aggravator from the other one the jury was instructed to decide. See State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); State v. Kester, 38 Wn. App. 590, 594, 686 P.2d 1081 (1984); CP 8-9; Appx.D. The omission of the "domestic violence" element from the verdict form was also harmless, if error, as it was an uncontroverted component of defendant's well proven crime. See State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 344, 58 P.3d 889 (2002) (citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18-19, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999); State v. Berube, 150 Wn.2d 498, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003); *State v. Ballew*, 167 Wn. App. 359, 367-68, 227 P.3d 925 (2012). The unpreserved, time barred, waived, and meritless challenge to the special verdict form should be rejected.

2. DEFENDANT'S RIGHT OF ALLOCUTION CLAIM IS ALSO UNAPPEALABLE SINCE HE RESPONDED TO THE COURT'S PRE-ALLOCUTION REVELATION OF ITS INTENT TO REIMPOSE HIS SENTENCE BY PROCEEDING TO ALLOCUTION AND SENTENCE WITHOUT INTERPOSING AN OBJECTION THAT REQUESTED RESENTENCING BY A NEW JUDGE.

Convicted defendants only enjoy a statutory right of allocution at sentencing. *State v. Hatchie*, 161 Wn.2d 390, 405, 166 P.3d 698 (2007)(citing RCW 9.94A.500(1)); *State v. Gonzales*, 90 Wn. App.852, 854, 954 P.2d 360 (1998). Denial of the right is neither structural error nor a fundamental defect resulting in a complete miscarriage of justice. *State v. Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d 698, 702-03, 116 P.3d 391 (2005)(quoting *Hill v. United States*, 368 U.S. 424, 428, 82 S. Ct. 468, 7 L. Ed. 2d 417 (1962)).

The trial court revealed its intent to reimpose defendant's exceptional sentence before giving him an opportunity to supplement the allocution he made when the sentence was first imposed:

"I don't see any reason to vary from what Judge Fleming, who heard the trial and heard all the details, did, so I'm going to sentence [defendant] to 374 months in prison, the high end, plus the additional 60 months for the deadly

weapon enhancement, and I'm also going to sentence him to an additional 60 months exceptional sentence upward. I'm simply adopting what Judge Fleming, who heard the trial and knows it a lot better than I did and was there, did. Count I is a level 15, Count II is a level three." ...

"So I'm basically affirming Judge Fleming's sentence, and I will say I am, to some extent, deferring to his judgment because he was there; he heard the trial; I wasn't. There's nothing I've heard or seen that indicates there was anything wrong with Judge Fleming's sentence, so I am, in effect, adopting it." RP 77-78; Appx.E.

Defense counsel advised the court of defendant's desire to be heard. RP 78. The court asked defendant if he had anything to say since the sentence was not final. RP 78-79. Defendant accepted the invitation to allocute, then proceeded to imposition of sentence instead of objecting to going forward on account of the belated request for allocution. *Id*.

a. The assigned allocution error is not reviewable due to defendant's failure to object on that basis below.

Appellate courts will not review alleged violations of the allocution right which were not preserved through a proper objection. *Hatchie*, 161 Wn.2d at 405. The procedure for preserving such a claim is for the aggrieved defendant to object to the offending judge's imposition of sentence with a request for the case to be transferred to a new judge able to hear allocution prior to imposing sentence according to RCW 9.94.500(1) since it is the only remedy available for a violation of the

right. See Id.; State v. Aguilar-Rivera, 83 Wn. App. 199, 203, 920 P.2d 623 (1996); State v. Crider, 78 Wn. App. 849, 899 P.2d 24 (1995); see also State v. Padilla, 69 Wn. App. 295, 300, 846 P.2d 564 (1993); Workman v. Marshall, 68 Wn.2d 578, 581, 414 P.2d 625 (1966); Cook v. Von Stein, 97 Wn. App. 701, 706, 985 P.2d 956 (1999).

A trial court met with the objection can either neutralize the alleged error by transferring the sentencing to another judge as requested, or proceed to sentence; whereupon the issue would be properly preserved for appeal. *See Id.* An objection grounded in a perceived violation of the allocution right is consequently inadequate to preserve the issue for appeal unless it articulates opposition to proceeding to allocution and sentence before the offending court. *See Id.*

After Judge Culpepper revealed his intent to adopt Judge Fleming's sentence in its entirety, defense counsel responded:

"[I] understand that ... I know Mr. Price wanted to address the Court and provide some information, but you've made your ruling without his ability to allocute." RP 78.

Counsel's remark was not a proper objection capable of preserving an allocation claim for appeal. Although it alerted the court to defendant's desire to be heard, it did not expressly request any relief, let alone ask for the available remedy of being sentenced by a different judge. Whereas defendant's ready acceptance of the court's belated invitation for allocution without further comment on its timing strongly suggests reconsideration of the sentence in light of defendant's allocution was the only relief sought. Even if counsel's remark could be interpreted to be a proper objection (which would require a very generous reading) defendant forfeited his appellate remedy when he proceeded to allocution and sentence without asking to be resentenced by a different judge. RP 78-81; see State v. Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d 270, 274, 858 P.2d 199 (1993)(waiver implied from conduct antithetical to right's assertion).

A great potential for abuse would adhere to a procedural rule allowing defendants to request resentencing based on allocution errors for the first time on appeal. *See Id.*; *State v Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013)(citing *State v. Sullivan*, 69 Wn. App. 167, 172, 847 P.2d 953 (1993); *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Such a rule would logically motivate calculating defendants to withhold objections until the offending judge's final sentence was revealed in order to assess the probability of obtaining a better outcome from a different judge on remand from appeal. *See Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 749. Since the new judge could be anticipated to perceive the offending judge's sentence as cap in order to avoid an appearance of vindictive

sentencing,⁴ defendants would generally only stand to gain from shopping their cases with two sentencing courts through appeal.

Meanwhile, the public purchases the defendants' opportunity to forum shop at the significant societal cost of a full sentencing by the offending judge, appellate review and resentencing before different judge—often less familiar with the case. *See Id.* At the same time, the uncertainty attending the outcome would deprive victims, or their survivors, the "dignity, respect ... and sensitivity" owed to them under Washington law. *See* RCW 7.69.010. As would a defendant's successful pursuit of resentencing since it would typically impose upon them to endure the hardship of having to emotionally experience the crime a least a fourth time⁵ in the defendant's presence.

Whereas strict adherence to the procedural bar to unpreserved claims would enable a trial judge to mitigate the extreme emotional and economic cost of allocution errors by transferring an affected case to another judge upon timely objection before an appeal is necessary. In the event a trial judge refused to cure the error below, a fully developed record would be ready to facilitate a then appropriate use of the appellate process. *See Strine*, 176 Wn.2d at 750 (citing Bennett L. Gershman, Trial

⁴ North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 723-25, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969).

⁵ Commission, trial, sentencing, and resentencing.

Error and Misconduct § 6–2(b), at 472–73 (2d ed. 2007)). Defendant's challenge to the timing of his allocution is not properly before this Court.

b. The timing of defendant's allocution was harmless, if error, since he was given a full opportunity to allocute before the sentence adopted by the offending court was reimposed.

A trial court's pre-allocution revelation of a defendant's likely sentence may be harmless error when the defendant is not prejudiced. *Gonzalez*, 90 Wn. App. at 854-55 (*cf. Aguilar-Rivera*, 83 Wn. App. at 202; *Crider*, 78 Wn. App. 849). Absence of prejudice may be shown where a defendant is afforded a full opportunity to allocute prior to the formal imposition of sentence. *State v. Delange*, 31 Wn. App. 800, 802-03, 644 P.2d 1200 (1982); *Gonzalez*, 90 Wn. App. at 854-55.

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